2006

# Helen W. Boyer, Trustee v. Thomas Vern Boyer; Carrie Gibson Boyer; Fewkes Canyon, L.L.C., a Limited Liability Company; Jeremy Boyer; and Kimberly Boyer : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **Nature of the Case, Course Of Proceedings, And Disposition Below**

The main issue in this case was the proper location of a fence which divided two sections of land (designated herein as “Section 31” and “Section 32”) situated in Summit County. The Boyer Appellees in this matter tore down a fence located on the long established section line between Section 31 and Section 32, and thereafter placed a new fence on a line consistent with a survey (“Green Survey”) completed by Green at Appellee Boyer’s request. Appellant filed suit asserting that Appellee Boyer had placed the new fence on Appellant’s property. Later, Appellant sought to add Green as a party defendant in this matter on the basis that Green’s Survey was negligently performed and clouded plaintiff’s title. After briefing and hearing, the trial court concluded Green was not a proper party defendant in this case.

Following trial, the trial court determined that the original fenced section line was the proper boundary line as opposed to the line established by Green. The trial court did not, however, award plaintiff anything for the damages plaintiff sustained (including costs and attorney fees) in relation to removal of the old fence and replacement of the new fence, nor did the trial court determine the parties’ rights and responsibilities in connection with removal of the new fence. The trial court also declined make an awarded

for damages sustained to Appellant's property. Consequently, plaintiff appealed the trial court's conclusion that Green was not a proper party in the case as well as the trial court's failure to award damages and attorney fees in this case.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Appellant agrees with the following Findings Of Fact entered by the trial court herein:

1. Joseph and Lois Boyer owned land in the Chalk Creek area of Summit County, near Coalville. What has happened to their land since their death is the subject of this dispute. Joseph died in 1967 and Lois died in 1971. They had several children: Joseph LaVern (Vern), Lyle, William, Leah Nielson, (the only daughter), Edison (Ted) and Fay Boyer. (R. 595)

2. Tom Boyer, defendant, is the grandson of Joseph and Lois through Tom's father Vern, who is the brother of Lyle Boyer, the deceased spouse of plaintiff. (R. 595)

3. Tom Boyer received section 32 and Lyle Boyer received section 31 through the chain of title to be described below. Just what those sections entailed and now entail is at issue in this case. (R. 595)

4. On October 3, 2003, Tom Boyer sold section 32 to defendant Fewkes, a limited liability company, whose managing member is Tom's son Jeremy Boyer. In November 2003 Fewkes conveyed approximately 6 acres to Jeremy Boyer. (R. 595-596)

5. Plaintiff is the trustee of the Lyle and Helen Boyer Revocable Trust, and the wife of Lyle Boyer, now deceased, and thus the aunt of Tom Boyer. (R. 596)

6. Plaintiff is the record title owner of section 31. Both sections 31 and 32 are in Township 3 North, Range 6 East, SLB&M, U.S. Survey. (R. 596)

7. Lyle Boyer acquired property through an executor's deed from the estate of his parents, Joseph and Lois Boyer. That deed was executed by one of the co-executors, William Boyer, another son of Joseph and Lois, on July 31, 1979, and that deed conveyed a good deal of other land and included "Section 31, [listing township and range as above], U.S. Survey, containing 623.6 acres, more or less," subject to the probate decree mineral rights. Lyle Boyer then quit claimed that same property with the identical description as to section 31 on June 14, 1988, to the trust named as plaintiff herein. (R. 596)

8. Tom Boyer acquired section 32 from his father Vern Boyer. Also on July 31, 1979, William Boyer as co-executor executed an executor's deed conveying property to Joseph LaVern Boyer, (Vern Boyer) and that included "Section 32 [naming the same township and range] containing 640 acres, more or less." It thus differs from the executor's deed concerning section 31 in that this section 32 executor's deed did not use the words "U.S. Survey." It was also subject to mineral rights under the probate decree. Vern Boyer by quit claim deed conveyed the same property, including the same description as to Section 32, to Tom and Vern Boyer Land and Livestock, a Utah partnership, on October 13, 1982. The Tom and Vern Boyer Land and Livestock company executed a warranty deed on May 11, 1995, to Tom Boyer and his wife. That property consisted of, among other property, Section 32 with the same description as the deed by which it was acquired. Tom Boyer and his wife, by warranty deed executed October 7, 2003, conveyed "All of Section 32 [same range and township] to Fewkes.

That deed did not contain any note as to acreage. As noted Fewkes conveyed a few acres to Jeremy Boyer and his wife the next month in 2003. (R. 596-597)

9. In the lifetime of Joseph and Lois Boyer sections 31 and 32 were fenced around their perimeter, along with other sections not at issue in this case. However, there was no fence between sections 31 and 32 during the lives of Joseph and Lois. A fence was first erected between sections 31 and 32 in 1977 or 1978 as will be described below. (R. 597)

10. Long ago, at a date not revealed by the testimony, but evidently not long after the deaths of Joseph and Lois, a dispute arose between Vern Boyer (and his son Tom Boyer) and Lyle Boyer concerning the boundary between section 31 and section 32. Tom Boyer thus commissioned a licensed surveyor, Fred Malan, who did a survey in 1976. Malan conducted that work on August 7 and 14, 1976. Tom Boyer accompanied Fred Malan on those two days, as did Malan's son Kent, who was assisting his father. Malan prepared a certified report a year later, in September 1977. That report indicated that Malan located a rock with markings on the north boundary of the line between sections 31 and 32. Section 32 lies east of section 31, and north of section 31 is section 30 owned by Judd and north of section 32 and east of section 30 is section 29. To the south of section 31 lies section 6 and to the south of section 32 and to the east of section 6 lies section 5, these sections 5 and 6 being in another township. Malan certified he made a survey of the line between sections 31 and 32. The rock was noted as having 5 notches on the east and one notch on the south. At one point the certification states the survey was done for Fay and Tom Boyer, and at another that it was done for Vernon Boyer, Tom

Boyer and Fay Boyer. Between sections 29 and 30 there was a fence that was erected before any of these events. The stone Malan indicated he found was at the intersection between sections 31 and 32 where the fence between sections 30 and 29 touched the northern edge of sections 31 and 32. The northern boundary of sections 31 and 32 was also fenced long before these events to separate the sections north of sections 31 and 32. (R. 597-598)

11. Not long after the Malan survey, sometime in 1977 or 1978 [sic], Tom Boyer erected a fence between sections 31 and 32. It was called by Tom Boyer a "stock" fence and he stated it was only to keep out livestock, and he did not intend it to be the boundary as he did not believe that was the proper boundary. That fence corresponded with the Malan survey, and on the north boundary the fence began where the fence between sections 30 and 29 ended on the south edge of those sections and the north edge of sections 31 and 32. There was thus a "four way" fence corner at the intersections of sections 29, 30, 31, and 32. The fence was approximately 400 feet east, into section 32, of where Tom Boyer believed and continues to believe the boundary between section 31 and 32 should be. The fence went south and westerly, and was erected by Tom Boyer. (R. 598-599)

12. That Malan plat was recorded by Vern Boyer, who recorded it October 9, 1980, along with an affidavit from Vern Boyer which stated that Malan located the "corner section corner common to sections 31 and 32 . . . and sections 5 and 6 . . . ." Attached was a copy of the Malan survey dated September 1977. (R. 599)

13. Disputes still continued between Tom and Lyle Boyer as to the boundary. Tom Boyer commissioned another survey in 1985 from Bing Christensen, also a licensed surveyor. Christensen did a survey June 4, 1985, and prepared a drawing showing the results, including stone monuments and fence corner posts he found and accepted as evidence of the location of corresponding section corners. Christensen provided two affidavits to that effect, one in October of an unknown year and one in October 2001. That map shows a stone was located at the "fence corner" where sections 31 and 32 meet, on the north edge. What was labeled as a "section corner stone" was found on the southwest corner of section 31 and another section corner stone was located at the southeast corner of section 32. A "fence corner" was labeled on the boundary of sections 31 and 32 at the south edge.

14. Disputes continued and a meeting was held at the request of Tom Boyer at the Summit County Courthouse in Coalville in October 1985. Present were Tom Boyer, his lawyer Wendell Bennett, Lyle Boyer, Bing Christensen, Kent Wilde, Sam Lewis, who leased section 31 from plaintiff, and Ron Baxter. Baxter and Wilde were surveyors Lyle had hired in the past. The boundary between the sections was discussed and out of that meeting further confusion arose. Some claim there was an agreement and some claim there was not. The court finds that all agreed that the fence erected by Tom Boyer was the correct boundary line that everyone would live with. Correspondence between Bennett, representing Tom Boyer, and Lyle Boyer followed. Bennett stated to Lyle the temporary fence was 400 feet too far to the east (into section 32) at the north end and 50 feet too far east at the south end of section 32. Bennett enclosed the Christensen survey. Lyle Boyer

responded that he had tried to locate the section line between the two sections. Lyle referred to receiving the Malan survey and it showed the fence built by Tom Boyer was the true line. Lyle stated he believed the Christensen and Malan surveys both showed the fence put up by Tom Boyer in about 1977-78 was in the right place. Lyle agreed to maintain the southern half and Tom would maintain the northern half of that fence, as Bennett had proposed. After the October 1985 meeting Bennett again wrote Lyle and stated concerning the fence Tom built in 1977-78 that "we have now agreed to recognize as the boundary line between sections 31 and 32 until such a time as the government authority charged with the responsibility . . . reestablishes those corner markers as between sections 31 and 32 . . . Until [a further government survey occurs] we agreed to honor the fence line as described in the enclose document, which was established by Bing Christensen . . . [and which was agreed to by Kent Wilde.]" The Bennett letter attached a description that was based somewhat on the Christensen survey, but it did not exactly trace that map, but began at the southwest corner of section 31, then north along a fence, then east 5288 feet to the four-corner fence line made between sections 29, 30, 31, and 32. Lyle Boyer wrote back in early 1986 and stated the existing fence could stay where it was located and he would maintain the southern half and Tom the northern half. Bennett in June 1986 asked Lyle to sign the agreement and that was never done. From all of this the court finds that there was an agreement but Tom Boyer was not happy or satisfied about it. No written agreement was ever executed and that agreement has no legal significance but informs the court as to credibility issues.



15. Because of the continuing disagreement, Tom Boyer commissioned yet another survey, by Green or Alta Surveying, in 2003. Green's survey, working for ALTA Survey, formed the basis of later action by Tom Boyer. Green's survey indicated the boundary between sections 31 and 32 was approximately 420 feet west, or into section 31, of where Malan and Christensen had placed the northern boundary. That is, the fence running between sections 29 and 30, where it touched the northern boundary of sections 31 and 32, was incorrect, and the true boundary was west 420 at the north end and about 50 west at the southern end. If the line was where Tom erected the fence in 1977 a spring at the southern end of the properties was partly in section 31 and partly in section 32. If the Green survey is correct, and the newly erected 2003 fence reflects the true boundary, that spring is entirely within section 32. Water rights are not at issue in this case.

Based on the Green survey, Tom Boyer removed the fence he had erected in 1977-78 and erected a new fence along the line shown as the boundary by Green, that is, about 420 feet to the west, at the north end, of where the old fence was and about 50 feet to the west on the southern boundary of the two sections at issue. When removing the 1977-78 fence its remnants were stored all on section 32, not on section 31.

16. Green obtained his surveyor's license in 2000. He explained why he disagreed with the other surveys. The court realizes its function in this case but the idea that the court can determine, on the basis of a short trial, what surveying principles were violated and what were followed is rather unrealistic. To the court all surveyors who testified seemed to be sincere and capable. It is apparent that surveying is not "rocket science" in that there is only one correct answer, but there is some disagreement even

amongst experienced surveyors. Various notes from the past may be interpreted differently, various landmarks may change, and not all surveys are completely "true" and some are better than others, just as in any endeavor. Green explained his procedures and the reasons for his results. He opined that the common corner of sections 29, 30, 31, and 32 is where it is shown on plaintiff's exhibit 9. That is, favoring defendants, or about 420 feet west at the north boundary of where plaintiff claims the boundary is. Green explained his understanding of the 1973 Manual of Surveying Instructions published by the U.S. Department of the Interior. Green explained that he considered the previous surveys, but also what are called the topographic calls, the original field notes from the 1874 U.S. Survey, the conveyance deeds, the 1967 topographic map, the acreage involved, as well as other factors. He concluded that the 1977-78 fence was not the boundary line but the boundary line is where the 2003 fence was erected by Tom Boyer after the Green survey. The original plat of 1874 shows section 31 is "short" and consists of 623.6 acres and section 32 consists of 640 acres.

Green had done another survey in the area, for a person named Henrie, in 2001. Henrie was interested in purchasing section 28 and some of section 33, and so Green obtained documents and information from neighboring land owners, including Tom Boyer, to conduct that survey. Green also obtained a title company title report which was suppose to contain the public documents. Later in 2003, after Tom Boyer heard of Green and his 2001 survey, Tom Boyer asked Green to establish the boundary between sections 31 and 32. Green later concluded, after talking to some of the surveyors of plaintiff, that they were wrong and he was right. Green opined that plaintiff's surveyors had simply

accepted the "stone" they found without "testing" it against other information, as Green did. Thus, Green opined as he did.

Green filed a survey for Henrie, and it varies in some regards from the Tom Boyer survey of 2003, which was filed in 2004 with the recorder. (There is no Summit County surveyor, so surveys are filed with the county recorder.) Green explained the 2001 Henrie survey was not "wrong" but was accurate based on the information, and with the later filing of the 2003 survey, any interested person could see what Green had done because of his narrative description on those two surveys. A great deal of testimony was elicited about the 2001 survey.

17. Various persons had been to the disputed area over the years. Many had seen, and the court finds, that indeed there was a government "stone" or monument placed there by the 1874 survey, which was intended as the common corner between sections 29, 30, 31, and 32. That was not shown on the 1967 or 1997 topographic map, but various individuals who were not interested directly in the dispute saw the stone. That stone would not show up on a government topographic map unless it was observed by a government employee tasked to find such markers. The Malan survey described the stone and his son Kent testified he saw it. The Christensen survey noted a stone at the same location. Wilde himself had seen it several times and it was notched and marked as a government-placed stone. Wilde saw it in 1977 and again in 1985, but it was not there in 2003. Wilde and Lyle Boyer had been to the corner with a view to staking a fence line south of that boundary. Lyle hired a contractor, Hortin, to "push" or clear the path for a fence. Hortin saw and described the stone, as did a neighbor who maintained the fences

of another section that adjoined the corner of 29, 20, 31, and 32. Those persons all described the stone a bit differently but as being in the same location as the four corner fence area, where the 1977-78 fence was erected going south. Tom Boyer testified he did not see such a stone ever, nor did his son Jeremy. Tom went to the site with Malan, Christensen, and at other times. The court credits the testimony of Wilde and others more than Tom Boyer concerning this government stone and its location. The description of the stone convinces the court not that they are wrong, but that they are being honest. The court does not indicate or imply Tom Boyer caused the removal of the stone, but the court credits the testimony of the many persons who saw the stone at the point where the Malan and Christensen surveys indicate it was. That is, where the fence line coming from the north between sections 29 and 30 joins the northern boundary of sections 31 and 32, or where the 1977-78 fence was erected by Tom Boyer.

18. The court finds from its own common sense as well as the expert testimony elicited, that the field notes from 1874 were not completely accurate as to what are called the topographic calls. The topographic map shows, for example, a ridge or gulch or stream, and the field notes from 1874 indicate those were in different places from what the topographic map shows. The survey's field notes from 1874 would say, for example, that from point A it was "X chains (converted into feet and inches) to a "ridge." Of course just where a ridge begins and ends is hard to determine, and that is obviously true of a gulch, a stream, or tree line. Those latter two features can and obviously may well change in 130 years from 1874 to 2003. The notes, again, show reference to a line of trees, or a gulch, or ridge, or stream, and of course natural changes occur in those over 130 years.

The notes are found by the court to be inaccurate as to distances and thus the corners which were established by following those notes as Green did were inaccurate. Often the distances were off as much as 500 feet, which would and does account for the discrepancy Green states he found. Because the field notes were incorrect as plaintiff's expert opined, Green's reliance on them caused his final conclusion to be incorrect.

19. Appellant disagrees with the factual findings set forth in Paragraph 19 of the trial court's Findings Of Fact.

ADDITIONAL FACTS SET FORTH BY APPELLANT:

20. The trial court concluded that Green's Survey was not correct and found the true boundary line between Sections 31 and 32 at the north end of those sections as shown on the Malan and Chritensen surveys and where the 1977-78 fence was erected.

The trial court, in Paragraph 8 of its Conclusions Of Law, states as follows:

Plaintiff has shown title to the land up to the boundary as found herein. Thus, plaintiff's causes of action for tortious conduct has been shown, but no damages have been proven. The court declares the boundary between sections 31 and 32 to be as herein described and quiets title accordingly. The fence should be moved as indicated below. No damages are awarded and of course no punitive damages.

(R. 616)

21. Following the entry of the trial court's judgment, plaintiff timely filed her Notice Of Appeal. (R. 628-629)

22. Tom Boyer was aware of other survey work that had been completed in relation to the government stone prior to the time he moved the 1977-78 fence and that others recollected seeing the stone. (R. 635 at 107:9-108:6)

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The trial court erred as a matter of law when it dismissed Green as a party defendant in this matter. There remained questions of material fact in relation to the duties and obligations Green owed to Appellant and therefore dismissal of Green was improper. The trial court also failed to award Appellant damages for the losses she sustained as a result of Appellee Boyer's actions and further failed to award Appellant costs and attorney fees associated with this action.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **Point I**

#### **The Trial Court Erred When It Dismissed Dannie B. Green As A Defendant In This Matter**

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