2006

Helen W. Boyer v. Thomas Vern Boyer, Carrie Gibson Boyer, Fewkes Canyon, LLC : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

In *West*, this Court recognized that under section 552 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts, a real estate appraiser “is liable to ‘a limited group of persons for whose benefit and guidance he [or she] intended to supply’ the information if it justifiably relied on it.” *West*, at ¶27. Unlike the circumstances in *West* and *Price-Orem*, Helen Boyer is not within the group of persons for whose benefit the Green survey was performed.

Moreover, Helen Boyer did not rely upon Green's survey. The circumstances here are far different in that Helen Boyer contested Green's survey and had other surveyors upon whom she relied. Helen Boyer does not have a claim for negligent misrepresentation against Green, just as Tom Boyer would not have a claim for negligent misrepresentation against surveyors hired by Helen Boyer.

The law set forth in *West* should not apply to a non-reliant third party. Numerous decisions around the country have held that a non-reliant third party has no cause of action against a surveyor hired by an adjoining landowner. The Utah Supreme Court, in *Bushnell v. Sillitoe*, 550 P.2d 1284, has also stated that a surveyor hired by one landowner owes no duty to the adjoining landowners. Green acknowledges that the law set forth in *Price-Orem* recognizes a negligent misrepresentation claim where the facts give rise to such a cause of action. However, where the claimant is not within the group of persons for whose guidance the information was supplied and where there is no reliance, the tort of negligent misrepresentation is not viable. *Bushnell v. Sillitoe* governs the instant matter. As set forth in *Bushnell*, and other cases around the country, such as *DeCapua v. Lambacher*, *Gipson v. Slagle*, and *Lindey's v. Goodover* dealing with claims against surveyors by non-reliant third parties, there is no duty owed to a non-reliant third party property owner.

The cases relied upon by Helen Boyer do not govern or apply to this matter, and the claim against Green was accordingly properly dismissed by the District Court.

III. AFTER A TRIAL OF THE ISSUES BETWEEN THE ADJOINING LANDOWNERS, THE DISTRICT COURT DETERMINED THAT GREEN'S SURVEY WAS NOT OUTSIDE THE STANDARDS OF THE PROFESSION.

After the dismissal of Helen Boyer's claim against Green, this case went to a bench trial before the Honorable Bruce Lubeck for three days. (R.635-637.) The Court considered the testimony of various surveyors who had performed surveys affecting both Section 31 and Section 32, owned by Helen Boyer and Tom Boyer, respectively. The Court heard and considered the testimony of Helen Boyer's two expert witness surveyors, John Stahl (R.637, pp. 488-539.), and Kent Wilde (R. 636, pp. 338-368.), and also heard and considered Green's testimony concerning the boundary line in question. (R.636, pp.144-237; R. 637, pp.602-610.) Indeed, the court heard testimony about numerous surveys that concerned the common north corner of the properties. (R.637, p.539.) After considering all of the evidence, the Court made the following findings of fact pertinent to Green's performance of the survey work:

16. . . . To the Court all surveyors who testified seemed to be sincere and capable. It is apparent that surveying is not "rocket science" in that there is only one correct answer, but there is some disagreement even amongst experienced surveyors. Various notes from the past may be interpreted differently,

Green explained his procedures and the reasons for his results. . . . Green explained that he considered the previous surveys, but also what are called the topographic calls, the original field notes from the 1874 U.S. survey, the conveyance deeds, the 1967 topographic map, the acreage involved, as well as other factors. He concluded that the 1977-78 fence was not the boundary line but the boundary line is where the 2003 fence was erected by Tom Boyer after the Green survey. The original plat of

1874 shows Section 31 is “short” and consists of 623.6 acres and Section 32 consists of 640 acres.

* * *

18. . . . The [original 1874 field] notes are found by the Court to be inaccurate as to distances and thus the corners which were established by following those notes as Green did were inaccurate. Often the distances were off as much as 500 feet, which would and does account for the discrepancy Green states he found. Because the field notes were incorrect as plaintiff’s expert opined, Green’s reliance on them caused his final conclusion to be incorrect.

(District Court’s Memorandum Decision, dated October 4, 2006, Findings of Fact nos. 16, 18, R. 603-607.)

Ultimately, based upon its findings of fact, the District Court agreed with other surveyors and disagreed with Green’s survey, declaring the boundary between Section 31 and Section 32 to be along the old fence line. While the District Court disagreed with Green’s survey, the Court expressly determined that Green’s survey was not done outside the standards of the profession. The Court’s pertinent conclusions of law, based upon its findings of fact, are as follows:

2. . . . There is certainly a conflict whether the stone was at a common boundary, but on balance the Court concludes it was. . . . When Green conducted his survey in 2003 he gave weight to that evidence of a stone being found and observed by others, but Green gave it insufficient weight in the Court’s view. . . . While Green did consider those things, he considered other evidences as being more important, and to the Court that is the principal reason the Court rejects his survey as showing the true boundary. The Green survey was not nearly as faulty as plaintiff alleges, however. Green simply disagreed with others and gave insufficient weight to the government stone and evidence that supported the presence of that stone, and he gave increased weight to his own “retracing” efforts and relied too heavily on questionable field notes over the government stone.

. . . Green's survey, while the Court concludes it was not sufficiently based on clear and available evidence of a section corner monument, was not done in willful disregard of standard principles of surveying. It was merely wrong and based on other evidences Green felt more important than the government monument evidence. Indeed, survey principles do not call for a "blind" adherence to a government monument if that monument is too questionable according to all evidence. However, as the Court understands it, Green used the 1874 field notes and examined terrain and topography and naturally occurring signs. Certainly those would change to some extent in 130 years. The process Green followed is indeed not dissimilar to what the Court is now undertaking in this and any other case. An examination of all evidence is made and a conclusion is reached. Green did that though in a way that others did not agree with and that this Court does not agree with, in that the key evidence, the government stone, was not properly weighed by Green. This Court does not agree with Green's result, or conclusion, but the process he engaged in was not so flawed as to be without some merit and it was certainly not willfully incorrect. The Green survey was not done outside the standards of the profession, it is merely found to be incorrect based on the key finding that the government monument was not sufficiently recognized or weighed by Green.

(District Court's Memorandum Decision, dated October 4, 2006, Conclusion of Law no. 2, R. 610-613.)

Based upon a trial of the evidence, the Court found and concluded that Green's survey work did not fall outside the standards in the survey profession, although the Court disagreed with the boundary line determined in Green's survey. This determination by the trial court came after hearing much testimony from several different surveyors concerning the disputed property line, and after hearing argument from Helen Boyer's counsel, contending that Green did not comply with standards in the profession. (R.637, pp. 651-657.) Having presented its evidence concerning Green's survey, and having contended that the survey was erroneous and performed unprofessionally, Helen

Boyer is bound by the District Court's determination that Green's survey did not fall below the standard of care in the surveying industry. Thus, even assuming some duty owed to Helen Boyer by Green, Green would not be liable to Helen Boyer, by virtue of the law of the case doctrine or the issue preclusion branch of res judicata, as the District Court has determined that Green's survey complied with the standards in the survey profession. The "law of the case" doctrine provides that a decision made on an issue during one stage of a case is binding in successive stages of the same case. *Thurston v. Box Elder County*, 892 P.2d 1034, 1037 (Utah 1995). Under one branch of the doctrine, a court is justified in refusing to reconsider matters resolved in a prior ruling in the same case for reasons of efficiency and consistency. *Id.* at 1038. Under issue preclusion, the relitigation of factual issues that have once been litigated and decided is precluded even if a different claim for relief is brought, and even if only "the party *against whom* the doctrine is asserted was a party or in privity with a party to the prior adjudication." *Trimble Real Estate v. Monte Vista Ranch*, 758 P.2d 451, 453 (Utah App. 1988), quoting *Copper State Thrift and Loan v. Bruno*, 735 P.2d 387, 390 (Utah App. 1987).

Applied to the instant matter, the law of the case doctrine or issue preclusion should preclude Helen Boyer from relitigating the issue of Green's conduct in performing his survey for Tom Boyer. Although Green was not a party to the case at the time of trial, nothing prevented Helen Boyer from putting on evidence concerning Green's survey or the basis for Green's survey, and Helen Boyer in fact called Green as a witness during her case in chief. She also presented testimony from her two surveyor experts,

John Stahl and Kent Wilde, contending that Green's survey was in error. (R. 636, pp. 338-368; R. 637, pp. 488-539, 641-644.) The District Court fully considered Green's performance of the survey for Tom Boyer, and made findings and conclusions regarding Green's performance. Helen Boyer is precluded from relitigating this issue.

Accordingly, the District Court's ruling dismissing Helen Boyer's claim against Green should be affirmed even if some theoretical basis exists for a cause of action against Green in favor of Helen Boyer, as the District Court found after a trial of the issues that the survey conducted by Green was not outside the standards in the survey profession.

The District Court's determination of this issue was based upon its findings of fact at trial, which should not be disturbed unless they are found to be clearly erroneous.

Johnson v. Higley, supra. "Findings of fact, whether based on oral or documentary evidence, shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous, and due regard shall be given to the opportunity of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses." Utah R. Civ. Proc. 52(a). "The trial court is not required to recite each indicia of reasoning that leads to its conclusion, nor is it required to marshal the evidence in support of them." *In re Knickerbocker*, 912 P.2d 969, 979 (Utah 1996). Although the trial court need not marshal the evidence to support its findings, the appellant must marshal the evidence if it seeks to overturn the trial court's findings. *Wilson Supply, Inc. v. Fradan Mfg. Corp.*, 2002 UT 94, ¶21, 54 P.3d 1177. Because Appellant Helen Boyer has failed to marshal the evidence on this issue, the findings have not been properly challenged on appeal and the findings must be upheld.

IV. HELEN BOYER FAILED TO PROVE ANY DAMAGES, AND IS PRECLUDED BY THE LAW OF THE CASE OR BY THE DOCTRINE OF ISSUE PRECLUSION FROM RELITIGATING THE ISSUE OF DAMAGES.

After considering the evidence on damages offered by Helen Boyer at trial, the District Court determined that no damages had been proven. Indeed, there were no damages sustained, and the declaratory judgment fixing the boundary line and quieting title provided Helen Boyer with the necessary remedy. The fence was then moved by Tom Boyer and there is nothing further to remedy. In its finding of fact no. 19, the District Court found as follows:

19. The evidence presented by plaintiff as to damages was not persuasive. . . . As to the alleged damages for remediation, as to planting new aspen trees or other vegetation, the evidence was not compelling just what was removed when the 2003 fence was erected. Certainly some trees were moved, but there was no sufficient evidence as to how many nor the value of those. Moreover, it was not shown why indeed concerning this range land there needs to be any remediation as evidently over the many years this land has been in the Boyer family there has never been any such reforestation or replanting of grasses. The damages must be proven, though of course they need not be with specificity. They may not be the subject of conjecture, and the Court believes the estimates provided are just that – conjecture.

(District Court's Memorandum Decision, dated October 4, 2006, Finding of Fact

no. 19, R. 607, 608.) (Emphasis added.) In Conclusion of Law No. 5, the District Court stated:

5. Plaintiff has not proven damages as claimed. The cost of removing the fence erected in 2003 was not shown convincingly, nor was any need for remediation shown convincingly. The evidence presented was too speculative and not based on sufficient foundation such that it convinces the Court that there needs to be any erosion or weed control, or that a range

fence or any other fence would cost anywhere near what the plaintiff's evidence showed. The Court rejects all the testimony about damages and concludes that plaintiff has not proven any damages resulting from the removal of the 1977-78 fence or the erection of the 2003 fence.

(District Court's Memorandum Decision, dated October 4, 2006, Conclusion of Law no. 5, R. 615, 616.)

Having made the factual finding that the plaintiff's evidence on damages was based upon conjecture, and having determined that the evidence was too speculative, the District Court's decision precludes Helen Boyer from relitigating the issue of damages by the law of the case and/or the issue preclusion doctrines. As set forth, *supra*, the doctrines of law of the case and/or issue preclusion preclude the relitigation of these issues by Helen Boyer. Thus, even assuming a potentially viable cause of action by Helen Boyer against Green, Helen Boyer failed to prove any damages in the trial between the Boyer parties, and is bound by the factual findings as to damages. Without damages, any potential claim of negligence against Green fails as a matter of law.

Following entry of the District Court's final order and judgment, Tom Boyer removed the encroaching fence as ordered by the court, and the fence has been placed along the line declared in the order and judgment. (*See* Appellant's Brief, p. 24.)

V. THE APPELLANT, HELEN BOYER, HAS FAILED TO MARSHAL THE EVIDENCE ON DAMAGES.

In the interest of brevity and to avoid duplication, Green hereby incorporates and adopts by reference the arguments and authorities contained in the brief of Appellees Tom Boyer and Fewkes Canyon, LLC on the issue of the Appellant's failure to marshal

the evidence on damages. The appellate court “does not review the trial court’s factual findings where the party challenging those findings fails to marshal the evidence. Instead, the court of appeals must ‘assume that the record supports the findings of the trial court.’” *Eggett v. Wasatch Energy Corp.*, 2004 UT 28, ¶10, 94 P.3d 193. As the Appellant has failed to marshal the evidence on damages, to show that the trial court’s findings were clearly erroneous, the appeal from the trial court’s decision on damages fails. The trial court’s decision on the issues of damages should therefore be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

The negligence claim against Green fails, as Helen Boyer was a non-reliant third party and therefore cannot satisfy the elements required for negligent misrepresentation. Her remedy was to seek a declaratory judgment for a judicial determination of the disputed boundary, which is exactly what occurred in the District Court. At trial, the court determined that Green did not breach the standard of care in the surveying profession. The law of the case doctrine and/or issue preclusion prevent Helen Boyer from relitigating this issue. The determination is based upon findings supported by the evidence, which findings are not clearly erroneous and have not been properly challenged by the Appellant.

Helen Boyer’s asserted damages were found to be based upon conjecture. Indeed, there were no actual damages. The District Court’s findings as to damages are supported by the evidence. They are not clearly erroneous, and were not challenged by Helen

Boyer by marshaling the evidence. Without damages, any theoretical negligence cause of action against Green further fails.

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